FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/18/2020 11:07 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99331-9

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 79754-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RALPH A. HEINE,

Appellant,

v.

TIM S. RUSSELL and ROBERTA A. RUSSELL and their
marital community; JOHN PURDY, a single man; and
NORMAN STOW and SARINA STOW and their marital
community; and WILLIE R. KENDALL, a single man,

Respondents,

and

STEVEN RUSSELL and STEPHANIE COLEMAN,

Defendants.

APPELLANT RALPH A. HEINE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Heather M. Jensen, WSBA No. 29635
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD &
SMITH, LLP
1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2700

I. INTRODUCTION

The doctrines of adverse possession and prescriptive easements embody the principle that “at some point legal titles should be made to conform to appearances long maintained on the ground.”¹ The Russell respondents destroyed long-maintained appearances when they narrowed a shared access road from 12.5 feet to as little as 6.5 feet by installing a row of sixteen steel bollards and then claimed that the road could expand into Appellant Ralph Heine’s yard on the other side to make up the difference:



In affirming the summary judgment that allowed this invasion to stand, the Court of Appeals contravened fundamental principles, broke with precedent, and decided at least one issue of first impression. The decision involves three main issues that warrant review by this Court.

First, on adverse possession, the Court of Appeals both broke with precedent and decided an issue of first impression about the standard for

¹ *Campbell v. Reed*, 134 Wn. App. 349, 361, 139 P.3d 419 (2006) (quoting W. Stoebeck & J. Weaver, 17 WASH. PRAC., REAL ESTATE: PROPERTY LAW § 8.1 (2004)).

establishing adverse or “hostile” use in the context of an easement. The owner of a *servient estate* (land burdened by an easement) may use an unopened easement area in any manner that does not permanently interfere with its future use for its reserved purposes. In contrast, the owner of a *dominant estate* (land benefited by an easement) may use an easement only as authorized. Yet the Court of Appeals held that, to extinguish or modify an easement by adverse possession, a dominant owner—here, Appellant Heine—must meet the same, heightened standard that a servient owner must meet to establish hostility of use. This Court should review that holding because it conflicts with a published Court of Appeals’ decision—*Timberlane Homeowners Ass’n, Inc. v. Brame*, 79 Wn. App. 303, 901 P.2d 1074 (1995)—and involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (b)(4).

Second, on prescriptive easements, the Court of Appeals held that driving on another’s land without permission does not constitute hostile use. That holding conflicts with, at minimum, *Northwest Cities Gas Co. v. Western Fuel Co.*, 13 Wn.2d 75, 123 P.2d 771 (1942). The Court of Appeals then adopted a restrictive, bright-line approach to the continuous-use element when it held that regular, though not constant, use of another’s land for ingress and egress cannot be continuous. That holding conflicts with *Lee v. Lozier*, 88 Wn. App. 176, 945 P.2d 214 (1997), where the Court of Appeals held that use need not be constant, but need only be of the same character that a true owner might make of the property considering its nature and location. This Court should grant review to resolve these conflicts and

because the Court of Appeals' holdings involve issues of substantial interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(4). Beyond that, this Court should consider whether to adopt the doctrine of collective tacking, which allows tacking of use by concurrent users who are in privity.

The third main issue that warrants this Court's review involves both adverse possession and prescriptive easements. In two prior decisions, the Court of Appeals held that where a road is built and used outside an easement's described location, the easement may "shift" to the existing road if the elements of both adverse possession and prescriptive easements are satisfied. *Barnhart v. Gold Run, Inc.*, 68 Wn. App. 417, 422-23, 843 P.2d 545 (1993); *Curtis v. Zuck*, 65 Wn. App. 377, 380-84, 829 P.2d 187 (1992). The Court of Appeals refused to apply the concept of a shifting easement here for reasons that implicate the two issues set forth above. Whether this Court should adopt the concept is an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the summary judgment against Appellant Ralph Heine, grant summary judgment to Heine, and award him fees.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its decision affirming the summary judgment on October 19, 2020, corrected that decision on November 3, 2020, and denied publication on November 18, 2020. Copies of the court's decision and orders are attached in chronological order as appendices A, B, and C.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. *Adverse Possession.* Because a servient owner's right to use an unopened easement area is nearly unrestricted, they must meet a heightened standard of hostile use to extinguish an easement by adverse possession. The Court of Appeals decided, in conflict with *Timberlane*, that a dominant owner is subject to the same, heightened standard. Should this Court grant review and decide whether a dominant owner's use is hostile as to all who claim an interest if the use exceeds a reasonable exercise of the dominant owner's easement rights?

2. *Prescriptive Easement.* The Court of Appeals held, in conflict with *Northwest Cities Gas*, that driving on another's land without permission is not hostile. The court also adopted, in conflict with *Lee*, a blanket rule that regular, though not constant, use of land cannot be deemed continuous. Should this Court grant review to determine whether to confirm and apply the holdings of *Northwest Cities Gas* and *Lee*?

3. *Shifting Easement.* The Court of Appeals held in *Curtis* and *Barnhart* that an easement may shift from a described location to an existing road where the elements for adverse possession and a prescriptive easement are present. This Court has never addressed a similar factual context, which this case presents. Should this Court grant review to determine whether to embrace the concept of a shifting easement?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties each own property on 242nd Drive SE, a private, unimproved road in Snohomish County that runs north and south and intersects with a county road at its southern terminus. The Heine and Russell properties are on opposite sides of 242nd Drive SE, to the east and west, respectively. The Kendall and Stow properties come next, heading north. Finally, the road dead ends at the Purdy property to the far north. For decades, all parties and their predecessors regularly used the shared road to access their properties.



The above image is based on the same aerial imagery as CP 703 and 704.

Also for decades, the road was about 12.5 feet wide and had static boundaries, including on the Russell side. CP 416, 419, 424, 432, 447, 465-68, 751-53; *see also* Appendix D. Under an express grant of easement, the road was supposed to be located within a 30-foot-wide strip of land owned by John Purdy. *See* CP 700. In reality, for at least 40 years, the road was not located entirely within the 30-foot-wide strip but straddled its western boundary so that the road was mostly within the strip but encroached onto

the Russells' land by as much as 5.5 feet, as shown in the combined survey and aerial photograph below. CP 465-68, 703, 757-58, 765-66.



The easement grant restricted the land's use by the dominant owners to the purposes of ingress, egress, and utilities. CP 700. As surveyed, the eastern edge of the 30-foot-wide strip is within a few feet of Heine's house. *See* CP 703 (reproduced on the previous page). But Heine and his predecessors used the area between their house and the road's eastern edge as their front yard. Of particular relevance, the Styles—who owned what is now the Heine property for more than 28 years, from 1977 to 2005—fenced the land, landscaped it, cemented a flagpole, maintained a lawn, trees, and shrubs, and parked cars on their asphalt driveway. CP 462-79.

The Styles also used the part of the road that encroached onto the Russells' land—for ingress and egress. Although the Styles' driveway was near the southern end of their property, they regularly used the part of 272nd Drive SE in front of their home that encroached onto the Russells' land. *See* CP 458-59. They parked a motorhome along the northern edge of their property that they would use for travel two to three times per year, amounting to four to six trips up and down the road. *Id.* Beyond that, a propane truck would visit twice annually, contributing another four trips across the Russells' land. *Id.* Even beyond that, garbage trucks and delivery vehicles serviced the Styles' property and could do so only by traversing the entire length of the road turning around, and returning to the county road via the same route. *See* CP 424, 432, 447, 704. In addition, the Styles participated in maintaining the entire length of the road, including the part on the Russells' land. CP 502.

In 2016, after obtaining a survey, the Russells installed a row of sixteen steel bollards in the roadway, embedded in concrete along their deeded eastern boundary line. CP 447, 450, 452, 454, 456, 487-89. This narrowed the road from 12.5 feet down to as little as 6.5 feet. CP 419, 424, 432, 447, 467-68. Garbage trucks and delivery vehicles—as well as emergency vehicles—no longer traverse the road. CP 424-26, 432, 447. The bollards also constricted the access to Heine’s driveway and rendered his recreational-vehicle parking area unusable. CP 447, 456. The Russells would claim that the road could expand into Heine’s front yard to make up for what they took with their bollards. See CP 442-43, 841.



CP 691 (bird’s eye view, looking north).

Seeking to have the road put back as it had always been, Heine sued all parties with an interest in the easement-burdened land. He claimed that his predecessors, the Styles, had (1) by adverse possession obtained fee title to the portion of Purdy's 30-foot-wide strip they used as their front yard and (2) by prescriptive use obtained an easement over the Russells' land to the extent the road had encroached onto it. CP 189-201; *see also* CP 843-56, 949-56. The Russells counterclaimed for declaratory relief and to quiet title. CP 827-30. They claimed that they were entitled to develop and improve the entire 30-foot-wide strip for ingress-and-egress purposes. CP 829.

On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court dismissed Heine's claims with prejudice, granted the Russells summary judgment on their counterclaims, and awarded the Russells and Purdy prevailing-party fees under RCW 7.28.083(3). CP 127-31, 160-63, 349-53; *see also* CP 964-66. The court ruled that if the Russells ever decide to use the entire 30-foot-wide strip for ingress and egress, Heine must demolish his front yard by removing all landscaping materials from the area at his expense. CP 350-51. This would eliminate not only Heine's yard but his driveway and parking areas—and bring traffic within a few feet of his front door. *See* CP 703.

The Court of Appeals affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. **Adverse Possession: This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' holding on adverse possession conflicts with a published Court of Appeals decision and determines an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide.**

As with any possessive interest in property, an easement can be extinguished or modified² through adverse or “hostile” use by any person for the statutory period. *Lewis v. City of Seattle*, 174 Wash. 219, 225, 24 P.2d 427, 27 P.2d 1119 (1933) (en banc). The nature and extent of use required to qualify as hostile differs depending on the user’s rights in connection with the land. Use by one lacking any legal right or permission to use the land is deemed hostile if they exercise dominion over the land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take, considering the land’s nature and location. *Chaplin v. Sanders*, 100 Wn.2d 853, 860-61, 676 P.2d 431 (1984).

The hostility standard is more demanding when the servient owner claims to have extinguished an unopened easement area by adverse possession. That is because, as the owner of the easement-burdened land, the servient owner is already in possession of the land and is entitled to use it in any manner that does not permanently interfere with the easement’s future use for its reserved purposes. *Thompson v. Smith*, 59 Wn.2d 397, 407-08, 367 P.2d 798 (1962). Thus, a servient owner’s use of an unopened easement area is deemed sufficiently hostile to put the dominant owner on

² Heine’s claim is not that the easement was extinguished, but that it shifted to the existing road. *See infra*, § VI.C; *see also Appellant’s Opening Br.* at 30-31; *Appellant’s Reply Br.* at 10-12.

notice and start the prescriptive period only if the servient owner (1) permanently obstructs the easement or (2) refuses a request by the dominant owner to open the easement. *Cole v. Laverty*, 112 Wn. App. 180, 185, 49 P.3d 924 (2002); *see also Thompson*, 59 Wn.2d at 407-09.

A dominant owner's position is materially different. A dominant owner is entitled to use the easement-burdened land only in the manner authorized by the easement grant. An easement grant thus provides the measure for when a dominant owner's use is hostile. Use that plainly exceeds the scope of that grant puts the world—including the servient owner and co-dominant owners—on notice of the dominant owner's claim to fee title, free of the interfered-with easement rights. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals had previously held that a dominant owner's use is hostile as to the servient owner's fee interest if it exceeds a "reasonable exercise of [the] easement right." *Timberlane*, 79 Wn. App. at 311.

Timberlane is instructive. In that case, each member of a homeowners association had a nonexclusive easement in a common area owned by the association. *Id.* at 306. The Brames, homeowners in the subdivision, fenced in part of the common area, landscaped it, installed a concrete patio on it, and otherwise used the land as their own for more than ten years. *Id.* When the association sued to eject the Brames and quiet title, the Brames counterclaimed based on adverse possession. *Id.* On appeal from a summary judgment for the association, the Court of Appeals reversed and granted partial summary judgment to the Brames. The court reasoned, "Although the use was originally permissive because the

[Brames]...had a nonexclusive easement right to the common area, the construction of a fence and a concrete patio on the property far exceeded a reasonable exercise of that easement right.” *Id.* at 311.

Timberlane addressed only the standard for hostility of a dominant owner’s use vis-à-vis the servient owner. Because the association in *Timberlane* lacked standing to enforce its members’ easement rights, the Court of Appeals did not reach the issue of the Brames’ rights vis-à-vis the other dominant owners. *See id.* at 307-09, 312. The court thus did not address the standard for hostility when one dominant owner seeks to extinguish or modify other dominant owners’ easement rights.

Here, although Heine is a dominant owner, the Court of Appeals applied the heightened, servient-owner standard to his claim against the servient owner (Purdy) and the other dominant owners (the Russells, the Stows, and Kendall) based on adverse possession by Heine’s predecessors, the Styles. The Court of Appeals observed that “a *servient estate owner* can extinguish an easement through hostile or adverse use,” but that hostile use by a servient owner is “difficult to prove.” *Slip Op.* at 5 (emphasis added). The court further observed that a servient owner “has the right to use [the] land for purposes not inconsistent with its ultimate use as an easement during the period of nonuse.” *Id.* at 5-6. The court then applied that standard to the Styles’ uses of the disputed area, holding that those uses did not raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding hostility because they “were not inconsistent with the ultimate use of the easement for its dedicated purposes.” *Id.* at 6.

As support for its holding, the Court of Appeals relied on this Court's decision in *Thompson*, 59 Wn.2d 397, a case that involved a servient owner's use of easement-burdened land. The dominant owners obtained an injunction directing the servient owner to remove a concrete slab he had constructed partially within an unopened easement for ingress and egress. *Id.* at 403. Vacating that portion of the injunction, this Court held that constructing the slab was within the servient owner's rights as owner of the land and was not inconsistent with its future use for the purposes reserved by the easement. *Id.* at 407-09.

The legal bounds of servient owners' rights should be immaterial here, where the claimant is a dominant owner. As to Heine's claim against Purdy for fee title to the area between Heine's house and the road, the Court of Appeals' decision that the servient-owner standard applies in determining the hostility of dominant owner's use of an unopened easement area conflicts with *Timberlane*, and review is warranted to resolve that conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(2). As to Heine's claim against his co-dominant owners (the Russells, the Stows, and Kendall) concerning their easement rights in that same land, the Court of Appeals in applying the servient-owner standard determined an issue of first impression (the question *Timberlane* did not reach). Both are issues of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Easements are commonplace in connection with all types of real property, and establishing the nature of use of easement-burdened land that may ripen into fee title by adverse possession is important for property owners and easement holders alike.

Under the correct standard for hostility, Heine should prevail as a matter of law on his claim to quiet title to his front-yard area—free of any easement for ingress and egress—based on adverse possession by his predecessors, the Styles. The Styles actively used and maintained the disputed area as one would expect a suburban property owner to use their own front yard, and their uses indisputably exceeded the reasonable exercise of their ingress-and-egress rights.³

B. Prescriptive Easement: This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals’ holding on prescriptive easements conflicts with decisions by this Court and the Court of Appeals and determines an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide.

Under established precedent, use of another’s land without permission—such as by driving on it—is hostile for purposes of establishing a prescriptive easement. *See, e.g., Northwest Cities Gas*, 13 Wn.2d at 77-85. The Court of Appeals held that the trips by Heine’s predecessors, the Styles, up and down the road each year to access their RV parking area and the additional trips by their service providers were, as a matter of law, “not actions made adversely to the owner of the land [*i.e.*, the Russells].” *Slip Op.* at 8. That holding conflicts with published decisions

³ Under a standard that uses the dominant owner’s rights under the easement grant as the touchstone, the Styles’ fencing alone would be sufficient to establish hostile use of the easement. *See ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell*, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6 (1989) (“A fence is the usual means relied upon to exclude strangers and establish the dominion and control characteristic of ownership.”).

of this Court, including *Northwest Cities Gas*.⁴ This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Also under established precedent, one's hostile use of another's land need not be constant to put the landowner on notice of a potential claim of a prescriptive easement; it need only be "of the same character that a true owner might make of the property considering its nature and location." *Lee v. Lozier*, 88 Wn. App. 176, 185, 945 P.2d 214 (1997). Thus, for instance, use of a dock on summer weekends is sufficiently continuous if such use is consistent with the use made by owners of similarly situated docks.⁵ *Id.* at 185-86. The Court of Appeals held that the Styles' uses of the road were, as a matter of law, "not...use of the same character a true owner might make under the circumstances." *Slip Op.* at 8. That conclusion, unadorned by any analysis of the property's nature and location, can only be taken as renouncing the previous holding in *Lee*. This Court should grant review to resolve that conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In addition, the Court of Appeals' holdings on prescriptive easements involve issues of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(4). In general, the nature of use that may ripen into prescriptive rights is important to all property owners and to those who find

⁴ The Russells conceded below that the road's encroachment onto their land was not permissive. 10/3/2018 RP 32-33.

⁵ Applying the same principle, courts in other jurisdictions have held that use of a road a few times a year may be continuous if it demonstrates use under a claim of right. *See, e.g., Johnston v. Bates*, 778 S.W.2d 357, 363-64 (Mo. Ct. App. 1989) (eight to ten times per year); *Vandervoort v. McKenzie*, 117 N.C. App. 152, 450 S.E.2d 491, 497 (1994) ("several" times per year); *Matakitis v. Woodmansee*, 446 Pa. Super. 433, 667 A.2d 228, 231 (1995) (three to four times per year).

themselves compelled to assert prescriptive rights to protect their means of access or other established uses of land. Beyond that, this Court should grant review to decide another issue of substantial public interest: whether to adopt the doctrine of collective tacking, under which tacking of use by concurrent users may satisfy the elements for a prescriptive easement.

Under existing law, multiple adverse users will acquire an easement in common. W. Stoebuck, J. Weaver, 17 WASH. PRAC., REAL ESTATE § 2.7, *Easements by Prescription* (2d ed., updated May 2019); see also *Curtis*, 65 Wn. App. at 380-84. Also under existing law, a claimant themselves need not have satisfied the elements for a prescriptive easement for ten years. The familiar concept of tacking allows the claimant to rely on use by others in privity with the claimant.⁶ *Howard v. Kunto*, 3 Wn. App. 393, 398, 477 P.2d 210 (1970), *overruled on other grounds by Chaplin*, 100 Wn.2d 853.

In the prescriptive-easement context, tacking “usually” arises with successive users—that is, “when an owner of parcel *A* who has been making a prescriptive use upon parcel *B* conveys parcel *A* to a grantee who continues that use.” Stoebuck & Weaver, *supra*, § 2.7. But while tacking by successive users is the norm, courts have not ruled out tacking by concurrent users, if privity exists. See *McBurney v. Cirillo*, 276 Conn. 782, 889 A.2d 759, 813-14 (2006) (rejecting tacking by owners of separate lots on the ground that they lacked privity), *overruled on other grounds by*

⁶ Tacking applies in the prescriptive-easement context. See Stoebuck & Weaver, *supra*, § 2.7; 25 AM. JUR. 2D EASEMENTS AND LICENSES § 53 (updated May 2020).

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