FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/15/2021 9:56 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No.: 99331-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 79754-9-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RALPH A. HEINE,

Appellant,

v.

TIM S. RUSSELL and ROBERTA A. RUSSELL and their marital community; JOHN PURDY, a single man; and NORMAN STOW and SARINA STOW and their marital community, and WILLIE R. KENDALL, a single man,

Respondents,

and

STEVEN RUSSELL and STEPHANIE COLEMAN,

Defendants.

RESPONDENT JOHN PURDY'S ANSWER TO RALPH A. HEINE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent John Purdy acquired his residential property in 1999 by

Statutory Warranty Deed and said conveyance was together with a description of an easement across a 30' wide parcel extending to the County road to the south, recorded Snohomish County Auditor's File No. 9904020377. **CP 635-674**

In 2016, Purdy received a Quit Claim Deed which conveyed the owner's interest in said 30' wide strip, recorded Snohomish County Auditor's File No. 201611100685. **CP 843-866.** Prior to 2016, Purdy shared non-exclusive easement rights with his neighbors, including Appellant Ralph Heine, and the other parties to this action: the Russells, the Stows, and Kendall, for use by ingress, egress and utilities.

Within the easement parcel was an access road located to the westerly side of this parcel. To the east side of the access road, water, electric and telephone utilities were located and served the neighborhood. All of the existing access and utility uses were non-exclusive and shared by all of the parties consistent with the easements serving their own residential properties.

Heine sued Purdy as well as the Russells, and the later the Stows and Kendall, seeking to extinguish their easements in the easterly portion of the 30' wide easement way abutting his residential property. Heine also sought to extinguish Purdy's accessing utility rights in use and when he acquired actual title of the property in 2016.

Heine's adverse possession claims were rejected by the Hon. Eric Z. Lucas in the Snohomish County Superior Court action, and awarded Purdy attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3).

The unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals affirmed the Snohomish County Superior Court in all respects applying well-established law on adverse possession and awarded Purdy additional attorneys' fees under RCW 7.28.083(3) or RAP 18.1 and RAP 18.1(j)). The Court of Appeals denied Heine's motion to publish the Court of Appeals opinion.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented by Heine as to Purdy is whether the Court should accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals that applied the facts that pertained, applied the legal precedents of well-established legal theory, and did not overrule any precedent of this Court or any precedent of the Court of Appeals, nor was any noteworthy substantial public interest identified.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties all shared use of an easement area identified by Snohomish County as 242nd Drive SE for ingress, egress and utilities. In 2016, Purdy became the owner of the 30' easement parcel at which time his previous rights as a dominant holder of non-exclusive easement rights merged into his ownership – continuing to be subject to the easement rights of the Russells, the Stows, Kendall, and Heine.

As one proceeds north on 242nd Drive SE, the first parcels of parties to this action are the properties of Russell to the west and Heine to the east across from each other. Continuing north next are the Stows' property to the west and Kendalls to the east across from each other. At the end of the access road, an easement area is the residential property of John Purdy.

Next are the Stows' property to the west, and Kendall to the east – also across from each other.

At the end of the access road is the residential property of John Purdy.

In Heine's statement of the case, it is stated on page 9 as follows:

"66. The court ruled that if the Russells ever decide to use the entire 30foot-wide strip for ingress and egress, Heine must demolish his front yard
by removing all landscaping materials from the area at his expense. CP
350-51."

This statement may be what Heine feared but is not accurate.

What is stated on the Order Granting Tim and Roberta Russell's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, at Page 2, Paragraph 4, is as follows:

"4. The Russells are entitled, in their discretion, to develop and improve the full extent of the Easement for normal means and modes of access and egress, including motor vehicles, bicycles, pedestrian use, and other similar uses that would normally be made of a driveway or roadway leading to and from a single family residence."

At Page 9, Paragraph 9, states as follows:

"9. Plaintiff Heine is entitled to leave the plants, shrubs, paving, and other landscaping materials he or his predecessors have placed within the Easement until such time as the Russells decide to expand and improve the area within the Easement beyond the boundaries of the existing gravel road. At that time, if the materials Heine or his predecessors have placed within the Easement would impede or interfere with the Russells' planed use of the Easement, Heine is obligated to promptly remove those items and materials at his own expense."

A. Express Easement in Favor of Heine, Kendall, Russells, Stows, and Purdy, 2016.

In 1999, John Purdy required residential property from the Howlands and in addition to the property conveyed to him for ownership, the transfer was together with a 30' wide parcel that was an easement. Appendix A, Parcel D, at page 2 of Statutory Warranty Deed. This easement was not exclusive and was subject to the easements for ingress, egress and utilities existing in other property owners which rights now are held by the Stows, the Russells, Heine and Kendall. Purdy now owns said easement parcel. Appendix B.

The initial easement rights were created in 1966 by the then owners of this 30' parcel, Donald and Mary Wagner. The strip of land is described as follows:

A strip of land 30 feet in width, extending from the Florence Acres County Road, the easterly boundary of which strip begins at a point on the northly [sic] boundary of said road, which is 120 feet westerly from the east line of the northeast ¼ of the southwest ¼ of Section 33, Township 28 North, Range 7, E.W.M., which said point is also the southwest corner of the May Carlson Tract, thence said 30 foot strip continuing northerly parallel to the east line of said subdivision, a distance of 320 feet.

CP 700 The document goes on to state:

For and in consideration of the mutual benefit to be derived therefrom, do hereby declare, establish, and create a non-exclusive easement for ingress, egress, and utilities over, under, along and across the above described property.

Said easement is appurtenant to and for the benefit of Gaylord A. Allpress and Virta E. Allpress, his wife, together with their successors and assigns, owners of the adjacent property to the above described, conveyed by statutory warranty deed, filed under Auditor's File # 1427591, November 2, 1960, records of Snohomish County, Washington.

Grantors do hereby grant and convey to the present and future owners of said adjacent property, the right to use said easement for the purposes hereinbefore stated.

It is true that even before 2016 that others in the neighborhood treated Purdy as the owner of the property upon which the access road and utilities were located.

B. Road, Utilities and Other Uses of Easement Area.

The access road is located in the west portion of the easement area between the properties of Heine and the Russells. Water, electric and telephone utilities are located easterly of the gravel access road. In the area east of the access road are trees, landscaping, and parking areas in front of the residences: in particular, Kendall and Heine, but there are no permanent or obstructive improvements in the area east of the gravel road.

C. Westerly Portion of Easement Area.

The road serving the neighborhood with access was maintained by all of the property owners as access to their respective properties. Purdy shared with other owners in the neighborhood in maintaining the roadway and providing supplies and equipment, in addition to some of the manpower to maintain this access.

D. Use of Eastern Portion of the Easement Area.

Located in the area east of the access road are the utilities serving the neighborhood shared by all of those with non-exclusive easement rights. No demand has been made by Purdy or other property owners to "open up" the easement area such as for widening of the road, establishing new utilities, for creating sidewalks, curbs or gutters, or other such use of easement development that could be anticipated. There is also no evidence to establish that Heine, in particular, was recipient of a demand to remove landscaping or any other use to which Heine or his predecessors had put to use of the area east of the gravel road.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The factors to be considered as to whether the Supreme Court should accept review of the decision by the Court of Appeals is set forth in RAP 13.4(b), which sets forth the factors to be considered in whether the review will be accepted or not:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENT

When considering the facts and particulars applied to this case there is not any conflict with the Court of Appeals decision:

- 1. With any Supreme Court decision;
- 2. With any other decision of the Court of Appeals;
- 3. There are no State Constitutional issues asserted; and
- 4. The Petition does not set forth any issue of substantial public interest.
- A. Heine's adverse possession claim conflict or with precedent.

While Washington law recognizes the doctrines of adverse possession and easement in the adverse possession context, the law is well settled over the years. It is clear that easement rights can be extinguished in Washington as against other property owners. However, the element of "hostility" necessary to extinguish an easement is a high standard. (Thompson v. Smith, 59 Wn.2d 397, 367; P.2d 798 (1962)). The *Thompson* case involved a fee owner of property and makes it clear that such things as a lawn, a paved driveway, fences in a garden (all as Heine alleges were established by the Styles use when they owned the property adjacent to the easement area and uses made in the easement area) are not hostile or adverse enough to arise to the level of adverse possession to defeat the rights of the dominant property rights holders, i.e., those with easement rights both in use and not as yet developed. At the time of the Styles residency, Purdy was a dominant holder of non-exclusive easement rights for ingress, egress and utilities just as were the other parties that Heine has made claim against in this action. It was only in 2016 when Purdy became the full owner and was therefore a servient property holder as to those with established easement interests.

The hostility element of adverse possession as to extinguishment of easement rights requires that as against the property owner there is a demand for

use that is refused and/or there is such an improvement on the property that amounts to an impediment of the easement rights, such as ingress and egress that has existed for the ten year statutory period. *Cole v. Laverty*, 112 Wn. App. 180, 185; 49 P.3d 924 (2002). In the case of Heine, he is seeking to extinguish easements of all of the holders of easement rights with the other non-exclusive easement holders with rights in the same area. He is seeking to hold these rights exclusively in this 30' wide area: the use and rights of which he now shares with the other non-exclusive easement holders. Heine's claim appears to be that his uses exceed the acceptable easement uses and limitations that apply to the property in question and therefore shall become exclusive. See *Timberlane Homeowners Ass'n. v. Brame*, 79 Wn. App. 303; 901 P.2d 1074 (1995).

Nothing in the factual record indicates any assertion of adverse rights or hostility sufficient to extinguish mutual non-exclusive easement rights as against the other dominant easement holders. It was only then that Heine asserted resistance to expanding use of the easement way consistent with easement rights of record or objected to "opening" of the easement. The ten year constant period of adversity and other elements, including the hostility element, would not have been achieved by Heine as this action was commenced before the ten-year period of his own occupancy and use. He has asserted that his predecessors completed adverse possession and extinguished the easement rights to the area in front of his property not as yet developed.

At no point was Purdy impeded in the use of the easement area nor were permanent improvements set in place to obstruct his access until, again, at the time when Heine started to assert such adversity and hostility in suing Purdy and the others included in the Snohomish County Superior Court action.

Even in light most favorable to Heine, use of the easement area by Heine and his predecessors in title did not arise to the dignity of hostility against the other easement holders nor against the later ownership post 2016 of Purdy. The dismissal of Heine's adverse possession claim in the Snohomish County Superior Court proceeding to extinguish his neighbors' easement rights was proper as was the ruling and decision of the Court of Appeals.

B. Issues of Substantial Public Interest.

The decision of the Court of Appeals did not set forth a finding of any novel issues or the breaking of precedent from well-established case history in the areas of adverse possession relative to extinguishment of easements. Such was all so stated in the declination of the Court of Appeals to publish their opinion.

C. Purdy should be awarded attorneys' fees as per RCW 7.28.083(3) and RAP 18.1(j).

If this Court does not accept Heine's Petition for Review, Purdy is entitled to additional costs and fees for requiring to respond, according to RAP 18.1(j).

VI. CONCLUSION

Perhaps Heine has misunderstood the evidence or the legal effect of same when applied to the established law applied by the Snohomish County Superior Court and the Court of Appeals. Heine fails to establish any basis under RAP 13.4(b) as grounds for the Washington Supreme Court to accept review and there is no demonstrated public interest that has been presented that would be

constructive to the established body of law on easements and adverse possession of same. Review should therefore be denied.